Department of the Secretary of State



Shenna Bellows
Secretary of State

Christian J Cotz
Acting Maine State Archivist

COMMITTEE ON JUDICIARY

TESTIMONY OF SHENNA BELLOWS, SECRETARY OF STATE

Testifying Neither For, Nor Against

L.D. 132, "Resolve to Establish the Commission to Study the Constitution of Maine"

Senator Carney, Representative Kuhn, and distinguished members of the Committee on Judiciary; I am Shenna Bellows, Maine's Secretary of State. I am here to provide context regarding, and testimony neither for, nor against L.D. 132.

Maine's 1820 Constitution is the 4th oldest state constitution out of the seventeen states that still operate under an original document. And though it has been amended 177 times, the essential characteristics of the constitution and the functions of the government it empowers, have not changed all that much since 1820.

While the Maine State Constitution allows the legislature to call a Constitutional Convention (Article IV, Third Part, Section 15), none have taken place in our state's history. To call a Constitutional Convention requires a 2/3 concurrent vote of both branches and often comes with a large fiscal note. For example, when a Constitutional Convention was proposed in 1975, the estimated cost at that time was over \$1 million. The suggestion was quickly abandoned.

Instead, Maine has held two Constitutional Commissions; the first in 1875 and the second in 1963.

In 1875, a Legislative Resolve called for Governor Dingley to appoint a Constitutional Commission to "consider and frame such amendment of the constitution of this state as may seem necessary." The Governor appointed ten men, all attorneys and judges of great learning, who selected as chair a recently retired Supreme Court Judge. In the few weeks that they met, and the group recommended 17 amendments to the state constitution, 9 of which were adopted at the session of 1875 and 5 at a later date. Amongst the more notable recommendations of the 1875 Commission was the decision to redact Article X, Section 1, 2, and 5 of the state constitution, which obscured Maine's responsibility to honor previous treaties with the Wabanaki. The minutes of the 1875 Constitutional Commission are preserved at the Maine State Archives, with a digital version available for public access on their website.

In 1961, Governor Reed appointed the second commission to study the constitution and make recommendations for amendments. Again, this commission consisted of ten men. They did so through the issuance of 4 reports that outlined 16 amendments, 10 of which were adopted. Notably, this commission added explicit guarantees of due process and equal protection to Maine's Declaration of Rights. It also recommended an updated system of representation that would be more equitable to Maine's urban population. The Legislature rejected other commission suggestions such as lowering the voting age and providing the governor with a "line-item" veto.

A last piece of information to share is the process for any Constitutional Commission in our state. A Commission studies and makes recommendations. As this bill states, this Commission will review specific items and make recommendations through a report to the Joint Standing Committee on Judiciary to decide upon and submit legislation to amend the Constitution. But then Article X, Section 4 instructs that any amendments passed by the legislature requires approval of a majority of the electorate. So, a ballot issued in an election during the 133rd Legislature may include questions on constitutional amendments. Only then can any recommended changes be enacted.

I hope this information is helpful. I am happy to answer any questions you might have.

OTHER NOTES

Conclusion from Marshall Tinkle's book, The Maine State Constitution, 2013

At first glance, the longevity of Maine's Constitution seems puzzling. The size, structure, power, and scope of the state's government have changed drastically since 1820. Few states that have experienced comparable change have kept their original constitutions and have made so few fundamental alterations. Moreover, conspicuous calls for a general revision of Maine's basic law have steadily issued through most of its history. A number of factors explain why greater changes have not occurred.

First of all, our constitution was deliberately kept simple and open-ended. It was written not to meet the specific needs of 1819, but to embody timeless constitutional principles. It has been called a blueprint for government, but in truth it merely delineates the foundations, permitting the structure of government to be built up higher and higher, although always within prescribed boundaries.

Second, this inherent flexibility has been met by a corresponding adaptability on the part of the document's chief interpreters. Judicial attitudes have naturally evolved along with societal norms as a whole, and the Law Court has recognized that the meaning of constitutional terms may vary with changing needs and expectations. Thus, the court, on the one hand, has permitted an expansion of state power that a century ago would have been deemed unconstitutional, and on the other hand, has adopted an expanded view of constitutional rights that a century earlier would have been unthinkable.

Besides making a lot of change unnecessary, the constitution has made such change difficult to accomplish. Because it invested the legislature with considerable powers and privileges from the start, and then provided that only the legislature could initiate amendments or call a constitutional convention, a deterrent to substantial revision was built into the system. In several instances, the fact that change has come slowly or not at all may be attributed to legislative reluctance to sanction a less favorable balance of power. The same institutional self-interest also accounts in part for the legislature's persistent refusal to call a constitutional convention. A voluntary surrender of its control over the emendation process by calling a convention would perhaps lead to the involuntary loss or curtailment of other legislative powers and prerogatives. The legislature has had little incentive to take this risk.

Old-fashioned Yankee thrift also has contributed to the unwillingness to call a convention. Opponents of constitutional conventions have always cited the high cost of such assemblies. Such fiscal conservatism probably would not have been determinative if it had not combined with a philosophical conservatism, best summed up in the Yankee adage "If it ain't broke, don't fix it." A deep-seated respect for the traditional, and suspicion that innovation does not equal improvement, have colored all the debates on the need for a general constitutional revision.

On a deeper ideological level, New England, to a greater degree than the other states, inherited the English concept of the constitution as an evolutionary, not revolutionary, process. (It is no coincidence that the only states with constitutions older than Maine's are Massachusetts, New Hampshire, and Vermont.) The view has taken root in Maine that its organic law should change organically. Thus, a "politic caution, a guarded circumspection, a moral rather than a complexional timidity," as commended by Edmund Burke, have moderated the urge to revise the Maine Constitution.

Broadly speaking, this process of gradual reform has worked, or at least has not caused any widespread dissatisfaction. When demand has been high for multiple revisions, constitutional commissions (and, to a lesser extent, special legislative committees) have been effective in increasing the scale of reform, despite their innate limitations. If a sufficient ground swell of popular support for a constitutional convention and a new constitution had emerged, no doubt they would have been instituted. In the final analysis, the absence of such support must be ascribed not only to legal, philosophical, and economic considerations, but also to a measure of public indifference. It has been easy to lose sight of the state constitution because its enforcement has been overshadowed by the extended reach of federal constitutional law. Time will tell whether a greater public awareness of Maine s basic law will generate more extensive constitutional change.

Reports and Cast from the Commissions

1875: https://lldc.mainelegislature.org/Open/Rpts/PubDocs/PubDocs1875v2/PD1875v2_14.pdf

1875 participants:

Washington Gilbert: Maine House: 1857-1859, 1869

William P. Haines: Maine Senate: 1847

Edward Kent: Maine House: 1829-1830, 1832 & Governor: 1841-1842

William K. Kimball: Maine House: 1845; Brigadier General, US Army; U.S. Marshall

Artemas Libby: Associate Justice, Maine Supreme Court

James C. Madigan: Executive Council: 1856; Candidate for Congress numerous times

Frederick A. Pike: Maine House: 1858-1960; US House: 1861-1869; Maine House: 1870-1871

Henry E. Robins: President of Colby College: 1873-1882

William M. Rust: Maine House: 1868-1869; Maine Senate: 1883-1884

George F. Talbot: U.S. District Attorney for Maine: 1861-1870; Solicitor of the U.S. Treasury:

1876-1877

1963: 1st Report http://lldc.mainelegislature.org/Open/LDs/101/101-LD-0033.pdf
2nd Report http://lldc.mainelegislature.org/Open/LDs/101/101-LD-1394.pdf
4th Report http://lldc.mainelegislature.org/Open/LDs/101/101-LD-1476.pdf

1963 participants:

Fred C. Scribner, Jr. (President): Lawyer. Served on the National Security Council and was the Chief Strategist of Nixon's 1960 presidential campaign. Among his many political posts: Maine Council of Young Republican Clubs, 1938-40; member, Maine Republican State Committee, 1940-50; Republican National Committeeman for Maine, 1948-56; General Counsel, Department of the Treasury, 1955-57; Undersecretary of the Treasury, 1957-61; Legal Counsel, Republican National Committee.

Emery O. Beane, Jr.: Legislator (D) until 1962

John P. Carey: Legislator (D) until 1964

Carleton E. Edwards: Legislator (D) until 1964 Robert A. Marden: Legislator (R) until 1964 Edwin R. Smith: Legislator (R) until 1964 Stanley G. Snow: Legislator (R) until 1948, then Executive Council until 1952.

George D. Varney: Legislator (R) until 1960 John F. Ward: Legislator (R) until 1954

Robert M. York: Fifth State Historian 1956-2004 (Bio on Maine.gov)

Amendments to the Maine Constitution

https://www.maine.gov/legis/lawlib/lldl/constitutionalamendments/

SP 455 L. D. /6/8

Do not write above this line

An Art to Provide for a postitutional Convention for the urpose of Revising or altering the constitution of the State.

The Committee on

grada Contibutada

suggested by Committee on Reference of Bills

IN SENATE CHAMBEN

APP TO THE PERSON OF THE PERSO

erroment:

01111

Trotzky) Penobsco

(Curtis) Challed

The County Penobscot

BOUSE OF PEPRESENTATIONS

Rester to Corn. On

MALE AND MENT

IN COLUMNATION

5/.4/.9---

Q.,

State of Maine

In the Year of our Lord, Nineteen Hundred seventy-five.

At Art to Provide for a Constitutional Convention for the Purpose of Revising or Altering the Constitution of the State.

But in the company by the Proposition State of Marie and Marie and

Smergency Preamble. Whereas, Acts of the Legislature do not become effective until 90 days after adjournment unless enacted as emergencies; and Whereas, the constitutional structure and organization of this State has become a burden on the people and thwarts the expression of their will; and

Whereas, the calling of a convention to alter or revise the Constitution should rest with the people and should thus only be called with their approval; and

Whereas, the convention, if called, should not be unduly delayed in undertaking its tasks; and

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine, as follows:

- Sec. 1. Convention to be held. A convention for the purpose of revising or altering the Constitution of the State, within the limits set forth herein, shall be held in the hall of the House of Representatives on the first Wednesday of January, 1976.
- Sec. 2. Composition of the convention. Said convention shall be composed of 151 delegates elected from the representative districts, one from each district, as now provided by law for the election of members of the House of Representatives in the Legislature.
- Sec. 3. Election of delegates. The delegates to said convention shall be elected at an election to be held on the Tuesday following the first Monday of November, 1975, which said election shall be conducted and the results thereof ascertained in the same manner as in a general election for

the election of state officers; and all the provisions of this state governing such election of state officers, except such as are inconsistent with any of the provisions of this act, shall be, and hereby are made applicable to the election of delegates to said convention.

- Sec. 4. Qualification of voters. Fersons qualified to vote for governor shall be entitled to vote for delegates to said convention.
- sec. 5. Qualification of delegates. The qualifications of delegates to said convention shall be the same as the qualifications for members of the House of Representatives in the Legislature.
- Sec. 6. Nomination of delegates; nomination petitions. Candidates for election as delegates shall be nominated by petition and not otherwise. Nomination petitions shall be prepared and distributed by the secretary of state and shall specify as to each candidate, his name, his residence and the electoral district or division in which he is a candidate. The total number of signatures for the nomination of each candidate or delegate must amount in the aggregate to at least one per cent and not more than two percent of the total vote case for governor in the last general election in the electoral district or division within which such candidate is to be voted for. There shall not be in any nomination petition the name of more than one candidate proposed for nomination. Only persons qualified to vote for delegates shall sign a nomination petition and each signer shall make his signature in person, to which shall be added his place of residence. Each signer shall subscribe his name to only such number of petitions as there are delegates to be elected in the electoral district or division in which such nomination is proposed. One of the signers of each separate petition or the person circulating the petition shall make oath thereto that he believes the signatures are genuine and that the persons signing the same are qualified voters within the electoral district or division for which the nomination is proposed. Nomination petitions shall not be signed prior to the date of the taking effect of this act. All petitions shall be filed with the secretary of state on or before the 15th day of September, 1975.

sec. 7. Contents and form of ballot. Every ballot shall contain the names and residences of all candidates duly nominated in the electoral district in which such ballot is to be voted. The names shall be arranged in alphabetical order. Appropriate instructions shall be printed on each ballot instructing the voter as to the number for whom he may vote in each electoral district and in each group and the method to be followed in marking his ballot. The person receiving the highest number of votes in the electoral district in which he is a candidate shall be declared to be elected a delegate; when more than one delegate is to be elected in any district the persons to the number to be elected who shall receive the highest number of votes shall be declared to be elected. In case of a tie between two or more persons, the person or persons elected shall be determined in the manner provided by law in the case of a tie in a primary election.

- Sec. 8. Vacancies. If there shall be a vacancy in the convention, from any cause, said vacancy shall be filled by appointment by the majority vote of the delegates elected.
- Sac. 9. Convention roll. The secretary of state shall on or before the day preceding the meeting of the convention furnish to the Secretary of the Senate a certified roll under the seal of the State with the names and residences of the delegates-elect according to the report of the governor and council and shall report the vacancies if any exist.
- Sec. 10. Preparatory committee: A preparatory committee shall be formed to make arrangements and prepare for the convention. The President of the Senate, the Majority Leader of the Senate, the Minority Leader of the Senate, and the Assistant Minority Leader of the Senate, and the Assistant Minority Leader of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House, the Majority Leader of the House, the Majority Leader of the House, and the Assistant Majority Leader of the House, and the Assistant Minority Leader of the House, shall constitute the preparatory committee. The committee shall

have authority immediately following an affirmative vote by the voters on the referendum question of holding a constitutional convention, to lease. or otherwise obtain suitable meeting and office space, to purchase or lease office supplies, equipment, books and other publications and other materials necessary for the work of the convention and to hire or engage such secretaries, technical assistants, printers and other employees or consultants as may be deemed necessary for the preparatory work of the convention. The committee shall initiate any studies, inquiries, surveys or analyses it way deem relevant through its own personnel or in cooperation with any public or private agencies, including institutes, universities, foundations or research organizations. In so doing, the committee may hold public or private hearings. It may issue subpoenss under the hand and seal of its chairman commanding any person to appear before it and to answer guestions touching matters properly being inquired into by the committee and to produce such books, papers, records and documents as the committee deems necessary. Such subpoenas may be served upon any person and shall have the force and effect of subpoenas issued out of the courts of this State. Any person who willfully neglects or refuses to testify before the committee or to produce any books, papers, records or documents, shall be subject to the penalties provided by the laws of the State in such case. Each member of the committee shall have power to administer oaths and affirmations to witnesses appearing before the committee. The committee may request and shall receive from any department, division, board, bureau, commission or agency of the State or any political subdivision thereof such facilities, assistance and data as it deems necessary or desirable to carry out properly its powers and duties. The committee is hereby authorized and empowered to make and sign any agreements, and to do and perform any acts that may be necessary, desirable or proper to carry out the provisions of this act. The members of the committee shall receive no compensation for their service but shall be allowed their actual and necessary expenses incurred in the performance of their duties. The authority of the preparatory committee shall expire on the first Wednesday of January, 1976, except the authority to submit a full report to the convention shall continue until the submission of such report.

Sec. II. Organization of convention. The Secretary of the Senate at 10 o'clock in the forenoon on the day appointed for the meeting of the convention as provided in section 1 shall call the delegates-elect present to order and from the certified roll furnished him as aforesaid shall call their names and if a quorum respond, he shall preside until they are qualified and a president of the convention is elected and if no quorum appear, he shall preside and the delegates present shall adjourn from day to day until a quorum appear and are qualified and a president is elected. In case of a vacancy in the office of the Secretary of the Senate, the Clerk of the Bouse shall act in his stead. The governor shall administer the oath to the delegates-elect as the same is administered to members of the Legislature.

Sec. 12. Fowers of the convention; limitations; mandatory duties. The convention shall have the following powers:

- I. General Powers. The convention shall be the judge of the election and qualification of its members; it shall have the power to elect its president, secretary and other officers, and to adopt its own rules; it shall have all of the powers given to the preparatory committee in section / 10; and it shall have the power to adjourn from time to time and to meet at appropriate places in the State as it shall determine. The convention shall conclude its session sine die not later than 90 days from the date a quorum shall first appear and are qualified.
- 2. Substantive powers. Except as provided herein the convention shall have the power by a vote of a majority of the 151 delegates to make recommendations on the following subjects only:

- A. Annual sessions and matters to be considered before each session (now covered by the Constitution, Article IV, Part First, Section 2; Article IV, Part Third, Section 1; Article V, Part First, Section 13);
- B. Abolition of Executive Council and reassignment or abolition of Executive Council powers (now covered by the Constitution, Article IV, Part First, Section 5; Article IV, Part Second, Section 4; Article V, Part First, Sections 8, 11 and 13; Article V, Part Second, Sections 1 to 4; Article V, Fart Third, Sections 3 and 4; Article VI. Section 6 and Article IX, Sections 1, 4, 5, 6, 10 and 11);
- C. Single member districts for the House of Representatives the Constitution, (now covered by/Article IV, Part First, Sections 2 and 3);
- D. Reduction in the size of the House of Representatives and establishing the size of the Senate (now covered by the Constitution, /Article IV, Part First, Section 2 and Article IV, Part Second, Sections 1 and 2.
 - R. Reapportionment of the House of Representatives and the Senate and methods to determine regular reapportionments the Constitution, (now covered by/Article IV, Part First, Sections 2 and 3 and Article IV, Part Second, Sections 1 and 2);
 - F. Procedures for initiative and referendum petitions and the Constitution, elections (now covered by/Article IV, Part Third, Sections 17 to 22):
 - G. The official before whom the oaths and subscriptions of Office of the Governor, Representatives and Senators the Constitution, shall be taken (now covered by Article IX, Section 1); and
 - H. Any amendment to the Constitution proposed and passed by the Legislature during 1975, but not approved by the voters.

- 1. Limitations. The convention shall not consider or include in its recommendations any proposal which limits, diminishes or abolishes the people's right to petition for a referendum or direct initiative; nor shall the convention consider or include in its recommendations any proposal which abolishes either the House of Representatives or Senate and creates a Legislature of a single chamber with the unicameral system; nor shall the convention consider or include in its recommendations any other matter not within the subjects assigned to the convention.
- 4. Altering the Constitution. In dealing with the subject matter as prescribed by this section, the convention may recommend the transfer to another article of any provision contained in an article being considered, or it may recommend modification, deletion, repeal, the substitution of an entirely new provision, or continuation without change of all or any part of an article.
- 5. Recommendations. The convention shall arrange its recommendations as separate questions for the ballot, and shall frame the ballot questions which shall bring the recommendations before the electorate. There shall be no less than one separate recommendation for each subject assigned to the convention and no less than one separate ballot question for each recommendation. The recommendations may be in any number of sections which the convention deems suitable, provided that each recommendation concerns only one subject assigned to the convention.
- Section 13. Manner of submitting recommendations for ratification.
- Q 1. Submission to Secretary of State. The recommendations made and the questions framed by the convention shall be certified by the president and secretary of the convention to the Secretary of State, not later than 100 days from the date a quorum shall first appear and are qualified.

- 2. Advertising. The Secretary of State shall advertise the recommendations of the convention in at least one newspaper of general circulation, if there is such, in each county, and also in at least three newspapers of general circulation in the State, twice during April or May, 1976. He shall also publish the Constitution showing the recommended changes of the convention in convenient form and send a copy thereof to each voter requesting it, and ten copies thereof to each polling place for the use of voters during the election.
- 3. Ballot preparation. The Becretary of State shall prepare and furnish to the several cities, towns and plantations ballots and blank returns in conformity with the recommendations and ballot questions of the convention.

Sec. 14. Ratification: proclamation. The recommendations of the convention shall be submitted to the voters for natification or rejection at the primary election in June, 1976 or at a special state-wide election on the 2nd Tuesday in June, 1976. The alderman of the cities, the selectmen of the towns and the assessors of the several plantations of this State are empowered and directed to notify the inhabitants of their respective cities, towns and plantations to meet in the manner prescribed by law for calling and holding biennial meetings of said inhabitants for the election of Senators and Representatives at the primary election in June, 1976 or special state-wide election on the 2nd Tuesday in June, 1976, to give in their votes upon the amendments proposed in the recommendations of the constitutional convention. The questions shall be as framed by the convention. The inhabitants of said cities, towns, and plantations shall yote by ballot on each question; and shall indicate by a cross or check mark placed against the words "Yes" or "po" their opinion of the same. The ballots shall be received, sorted, counted and declared in open ward, town and plantation meetings and returns made to the office of the Secretary of State in the same manner as votes for governor and members of the Legislature, and the governor and council shall review the same, and if it shall appear that a majority of the inhabitants voting on each question are in favor of the amendments therein, the governor shall forthwith make known the fact by his proclamation, and the amendment shall thereupon, as of the date of said proclamation, become a part of the Constitution.

Sec. 15. Convention records. The convention shall keep a journal of its proceedings, which shall contain a record of the vote of the convention on each of its recommendations and ballot questions, and a report of its proceedings, Said journal shall be filed with the Secretary of State and report of the conventions actions shall be sent to the Covernor and Legislature.

Sec. 16. Compensation. Each delegate shall be paid for his services the same amount per day, for each day the convention is in session, as is now provided for members of the Legislature when meeting in special session. Each delegate shall also reveive mileage and expenses as now provided for members of the legislature when meeting in special session.

Sec. 17 Convention open to the public. Sessions of the convention as a whole shall be open to the public.

Sec. 18. Registration of lobbyists. Any natural person who is employed or engaged for compensation, by any other person or any partner—ship, committee, association, corporation or any other organization, to advocate passage or defeat of recommendations of the constitutional convention or proposals of any of its delegates shall, before beginning such activities, submit to the secretary of the convention a registration statement made under oath or affirmation before an officer authorized by law to administer oaths setting forth the name and business address of the lobbyist, the name and address of the person, partnership, committee, association, corporation or other organization by whom he is employed or engaged, the name and address of the person, partnership, committee, association, corporation or other organization in whose interest he will advocate the passage or defeat of proposals of the convention and the duration of his employment. Whenever any of the facts required herein change, the lobbyist shall file a revised statement.

Any person violating any of the provisions of this section shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction, shall be sentenced to pay a fine not exceeding \$500 or to undergo imprisonment not exceeding one year, or both.

Sec. 19. Appropriations. There is appropriated from the General Fund the sum of \$1,057,000 to carryout the purposes of this Act. The breakdown shall be as follows:

Preparatory Committee		1975-1976
Personal Services	(33)	\$200,000
All other		50,000
Constitutional Convention		
Personal Services	(151)	\$362,000
All other		325,000
Secretary of State		
All other		\$120,000

Referendum; effective date. This Act shall take effect 90 days after the adjournment of the Legislature only for the purpose of presenting it to the legal voters of the State of Maine at a special state-wide election to be held on the Tuesday following the first Monday of November following the passage of this Act,

The aldermen of the cities, the selectmen of the towns and the assessors of the several plantations of this State are empowered and directed to notify the inhabitants of their respective cities, towns and plantations to meet in the manner prescribed by law for calling and holding biennial meetings of said inhabitants for the election of Senators and Representatives at a special state-wide election on the Tuesday following the first Monday of November following the passage of this Act, to give in their votes upon the acceptance or rejection of the foregoing Act, and the question shall be:

"Shall 'An Act to Provide for a Constitutional Convention
for the Purpose of Revising or Altering the Constitution of
the State;

as proposed by the
Legislature, and subject to the limitations therein, to consider annual

sessions of the Legislature, abolition of the Executive Council, single member districts for the House of Representatives, reduction in the size of the House of Representatives and establishment of the size of the Senate, reapportionment of the House of Representatives and Senate and methods to determine regular reapportionments, procedures for Initiative and Referendum Petitions and Elections, the official before whom oaths and subscriptions of office of Governor, Representatives, and Senators shall be taken, and any amendment proposed during 1975, but not approved; but not to include proposals to limit, diminish or abolish the people's right to petition for a referendum or direct initiative, nor proposals to create a single chamber, unicameral Legislature, nor any others become law, and such convention be called?"

The inhabitants of said cities, towns and plantations shall indicate by a cross or check mark placed within a square upon their ballots their opinion of the same, those in favor of acceptance voting "Yes" and those opposed to acceptance voting "No" and the ballots shall be received, sorted, counted and declared in open ward, town and plantation meetings and return made to the office of the Secretary of State in the same manner as votes for Governor and Members of the Legislature, and the Governor and Council shall review the same and if it shall appear that a majority of the inhabitants voting on the question are in favor of said Act, the Governor shall forthwith make known the fact by his proclamation and the Act shall thereupon become effective August 1, 1975.

Secretary of State shell prepare ballots. The Secretary of State shall prepare and furnish to the several cities, towns and plantations ballots and blank returns in conformity with the foregoing Act, accompanied by a copy thereof.

FISCAL NOTE

The appropriation is accounted for as follows:

Preparatory Committee (5 months)

\$200,000	Salaries for staff and support personnel		
50,000	Expenses for staff operations		
Constitutional Convention (96 days)	(65 work days)		
\$245,375	Delegates per diem		
126,625	Salaries for staff & support personnel		
245,375	Delegates expenses		
49,075	Delegates travel		
30,550	Expenses for staff operations		
Secretary of State (3 elections)			
\$45,000	Referendum		
45,000	Election of Delegates		
30,000	Ratification		

STATEMENT OF PACT

this bill

The purpose of / is to provide for a Constitutional Convention for the purpose of revising or altering the Constitution of the State. requires a referendum on calling the convention, the election of delegates, and the ratification, separately, of each of the convention's recommendations. A preparatory committee shall make arrangements and prepare for the convention. The Convention shall only consider the following subjects:

- g. annual sessions of the legislature;
- b. abolition of the Executive Council;
- single member districts for the House of Representatives;
- d. reduction in the size of the House of Representatives and
- establishment of the size of the Senate;
- e. reapportionment of the House of Representatives and the Senate
- and methods to determine the regular reapportionments;
- procedures for Initiative and Referendum Petitions and elections;
- the official before whom oaths and subscriptions of office of
- the Governor, Representatives and Senators shall be taken; and
- any amendment to the Constitution passed by the Legislature in
 - 1975, but not approved by the voters,

The Convention shall not consider or include any recommendation that limits, diminishes or abolishes the people's right to petition for a referendum or direct initiative, nor any recommendation to create a single chamber, unicameral Legislature, nor any other matter not within the subjects assigned to the Convention.

The Convention shall meet on the / Wednesday in January, 1976 and

The Convention shall meet on the / Wednesday in January, 1976 and shall adjourn sine die 90 days after a quorum appears and is qualified. The recommendations of the Convention shall then be submitted to the voters for ratification or rejection. If ratified, the Constitution shall be amended by the recommendations ratified.

SENATE REPORT

THE COMMITTEE ON

STATE GOVERNMENT

to which was referred the Bill, entitled "An Act to Provide for Constitutional Convention for the Europe of tevising or Altering the Constitution of the State.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVE
READ AND ACCEPTED
MAY 14 1975

THE CONCLUMENTE CLEAN

S. P. 455 L. D. 1618

have had the same under consideration, and ask leave to report that the sameLeave to Withdraw.

Graham) Cumberland For the Committee